MASTER AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

WHITMORE LAKE PUBLIC SCHOOL DISTRICT

AND

WHITMORE LAKE OFFICE PERSONNEL ASSOCIATION, MEA/NEA

July 1, 2023 - June 30, 2026

Table of Contents

AGREEMENT	3
RECOGNITION	3
DEFINITIONS	3
Article 1, Association and Member Rights	4
Article 2, Professional Dues or Fees and Payroll Deductions	5
Article 3, Work Hours and Work Load	
Article 4, Working Conditions	7
Article 5, Assignments, Vacancies and Transfers	7
Article 6, Evaluation	8
Article 7, Leave Days	9
Article 8, Unpaid Leaves of Absence	11
Article 9, Holidays	
Article 10, Protection of Employees	12
Article 11, Discipline of Employees	
Article 12, Grievance Procedure	13
Article 13, Miscellaneous Provisions	14
Article 14, Continuity of Operations	15
Article 15, Rights of the Board	
Article 16, Layoff, Recall and Seniority	
Article 17, Insurance Protection	
Article 18, Staff Development	
Article 19, Job Descriptions	
Article 20, Wage Schedule and Related Issues	19
Article 21, Duration of Agreement	20
Appendix A	21

AGREEMENT

This Agreement is entered into in accordance with Michigan Act 336 of the Public Acts of 1947, as amended, by and between the Board of Education of the Whitmore Lake Public Schools and the Whitmore Lake Educational Support Personnel Association, M.E.A./N.E.A.

RECOGNITION CLAUSE

The Board hereby recognizes the Association as the sole and exclusive bargaining Representative for all full time and regularly scheduled part time secretaries/clerical employees, whether under contract or on leave. Such representation shall exclude all central office staff.

DEFINITIONS

Secretarial/Clerical

All persons within the school system who perform secretarial and clerical duties, excluding the above identified non-bargaining unit personnel.

Supervisory Personnel

The Board shall determine the identity of the supervisors and shall relay their identities to the employees.

Board of Education

The governing body of the Whitmore Lake Public Schools

Association

The Whitmore Lake Educational Support Personnel Association – M.E.A./N.E.A. is the bargaining agent representing the secretarial and clerical personnel of the Whitmore Lake Public Schools as defined above.

ARTICLE 1 ASSOCIATION AND MEMBER RIGHTS

- A. Nothing contained herein shall be construed to deny or restrict to any employee rights she/he may have under the Michigan General School Laws or other applicable laws and regulations. The rights granted to employees hereunder shall be deemed to be in addition to those provided elsewhere.
- B. The employees shall have the right to use the school building facilities in accordance with school policies at reasonable hours for private Association meetings.
- C. Duly authorized representatives of the Association shall have the right to transact official Association business on school property at all reasonable times, provided that this shall not interfere with or interrupt normal school operations.
- D. The Association shall have the right to use and operate school facilities and equipment, including typewriters, and all types of audio-visual equipment at reasonable times, when such equipment is not otherwise in use. The Association shall pay for the reasonable cost of all materials and supplies incidental to such use. These are to be used by authorized members qualified in the use of the materials.
- E. The Board agrees to make available to the Association information concerning the financial resources of the district, proposed budgetary requirements and allocations, and such other information as is part of the public records of the school district provided, that the school district shall not be required to undertake any expense to collate or research any data which it would not prepare for its own use.
- F. Employees shall be entitled to full rights or citizenship and no religious or political activities of any employee or lack thereof shall be grounds for any discipline or discrimination with respect to the employment of such employee provided, that an employee shall refrain from exploiting the institutional privileges of her/his professional position to promote political candidates or partisan activities.
- G. The private and personal life of any employee shall remain inviolate. However, where any employee engages in any activity that adversely affects the public image of the Employer or adversely affects her/his effectiveness as an employee, the Board may take such action as is appropriate.
- H. Employees shall perform their duties in a manner which will bring respect and dignity to the district and which exemplifies the highest standard of integrity and ethical behavior.
- I. The Association Secretary shall be notified in writing as soon as possible after the hiring of a new employee of said employee's name, address, phone number, and position.
- J. The Association will notify the Superintendent's Office of the names of the officers of the Association as soon after the annual election as possible, or whenever a change in officers is made.

- K. Employees are expected to comply with reasonable rules, regulations, and directions from time to time adopted by the Board or its representatives which are not inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement, provided that an employee may reasonably refuse to carry out an order which threatens physical safety.
- L. Each employee shall have the right, upon their request, to review the contents of their own personnel folder on file in the Business Office. Material initiated by anyone other than the employee shall not be placed in the employee's personnel file without the knowledge of the employee. The employee shall have the right to attach comments to any material placed in the employee's personnel file. All materials placed in the file shall be dated. Records for review shall be made available in the Business Office and shall not be removed from said office. A representative of the Association may, at the request of the employee, accompany the employee in this review. The Superintendent or his/her designee must be present at such review.

ARTICLE 2 PROFESSIONAL DUES OR FEES AND PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS

- A. Upon appropriate written authorization from the employee, the Board will also direct deductions through voluntary authorization for credit union, union, annuities and all other mutually agreed upon programs. Voluntary deductions specifically authorized and approved by the Superintendent shall also be withheld, provided however the Employer is not required to honor any request for the deduction related to, directly or indirectly, the collection of dues and/or fees of the Association.
- B. Employees may organize together or form, join, or assist in labor organizations; engage in lawful concerted activities for the purpose of collective negotiation or bargaining or other mutual aid and protection; or negotiate or bargain collectively with their public employers through representatives of their own free choice.
- C. Employees may refrain from any or all of the activities identified in Paragraph A.
- D. No person shall by force, intimidation, or unlawful threats compel or attempt to compel any public employee to do any of the following:
 - 1. Become or remain a member of a labor organization or bargaining representative or otherwise affiliate with or financially support a labor organization or bargaining representative.
 - 2. Refrain from engaging in employment or refrain from joining a labor organization or bargaining representative or otherwise affiliating with or financially supporting a labor organization or bargaining representative.
 - 3. Pay to any charitable organization or third party an amount that is in lieu of, equivalent to, or any portion of dues, fees, assessments, or other charges or expenses required of members of or public employees represented by a labor organization or bargaining representative.
- E. Indemnity Agreement: In consideration of the Board agreeing to an agency shop clause in this Agreement, the Association at all times shall indemnify and keep indemnified the Board of Education and the members thereof individually and collectively, and hold and save

harmless from and against any and all actions or causes of action (whether instituted in a court of law or equity of an administrative agency), claims, demands, liabilities, loss, damage, or expense of whatsoever kind and nature including counsel or attorney's fees, which the Board of Education and the members thereof individually or collectively shall or may at any time sustain or incur by reason or in consequence of any action the Board of Education may take in good faith in complying with said agency shop clause or which the Board of Education and with any challenge, investigation, litigation, or other expenditures incident to said agency shop clause, including any suit instituted to enforce the obligations of this Agreement of indemnity.

The Association and its members may from time-to-time pay all sums of money, with interest, which the Board of Education and its members individually or collectively shall pay, or cause to be paid, or become liable to pay, on account of or in connection with such agency shop clauses or actions of the Board with its terms. The Association and its members shall make necessary payment to Whitmore Lake Public Schools when the enforcement of the statutory agency shop provisions of this Agreement lead to legal action against the Board or its designees.

In complying with this indemnity agreement, the Association shall have the right to assume the legal defense of any suit or action brought against the Board of Education and its members individually and collectively; the right to decide whether or not to defend any such actions, or whether to appeal the decision of any court or tribunal; the right to compromise or settle any claim made against the Board of Education and its members individually and collectively shall be held absolutely harmless of any loss or liability whatsoever.

ARTICLE 3 WORK HOURS AND WORKLOAD

- A. The normal work day for full time employees shall be eight and one half (8.5) hours with a 30 minute duty-free lunch break. Extending the day during non-student days can be collaboratively agreed to. (E.G. 4 day work week during summer.) Building supervisors will establish time schedules, which can be modified throughout the year. Extending the day occasionally occurs and can be done with mutual agreement of employee and supervisor. The overtime compensation rate will be one and one half (1.5) the employee's hourly rate. This rate will be applied after forty (40) hours of work has been accumulated during the week.
- B. An employee's normal work schedule shall be defined as one of the following:

Elementary Office Staff - 210 days High School Office Staff (all-inclusive positions) - 210 days Media Center Staff - 192 days

210 days will follow the academic calendar with expected start dates three weeks before teachers report and two weeks from the last day of school. Assignments will include portions of holiday breaks if needed if the length of the assignment is exceeded with reasonable notice to employees.

The above outlined work days do not include the nine holidays identified by the school calendar.

- C. Whenever grievance hearings or negotiations meetings are held during the regular school hours, any employee who is required to attend such hearing or meeting as a grievant, witness or Association representative, shall be paid her/his salary for such period. Otherwise the Association shall bear the cost of its personnel while on Association business. Nothing herein contained shall indicate that such hearings or meetings are required to be held during regular school days.
- D. Whenever any employee is unable to report for any reason, the employee shall give the school district the maximum advance notice the circumstances dictate.
- E. All employees shall be entitled to a duty-free unpaid lunch period of not less than 30 minutes if scheduled to work a minimum of a six (6) hour day. All employees must take their half hour lunch and stay until their ending work time.

ARTICLE 4 WORKING CONDITIONS

- A. The Association or any individual member may at any time present to the Board (through professional channels) proposals for improving the work environment of the school system. Such proposal or proposals may be a simple statement identifying a problem and requesting a conference.
- B. Employees shall have access to a lounge (teacher/staff) area and restroom facilities for faculty use.
- C. Telephone facilities shall be made available.
- D. The Employer will endeavor to provide adequate paved parking facilities.

ARTICLE 5 ASSIGNMENTS, VACANCIES AND TRANSFERS

- A. Employees shall not be assigned, except for good cause, outside the scope of their original assignment.
- B. The Board reserves the right to make such transfers and changes as are necessary for the efficient operation of the school system. However, the school district shall make reasonable effort to effect such adjustments by honoring requests for transfer and mutually satisfactory reassignments. When such reassignments are known, the employees involved will be advised.

A transfer shall be defined as a change in a bargaining unit member's building or work assignment.

In the event of a need to implement an involuntary transfer, the following procedure shall be followed:

- 1. The administration shall first seek qualified volunteers from among the bargaining unit.
- 2. If no volunteers are identified, then the least senior qualified bargaining unit member shall be transferred.
- 3. When bargaining unit members are temporarily, involuntarily transferred to assignments which carry a higher hourly rare, the member assuming the duties shall be compensated at the higher rate for all hours worked in the assignment. When the bargaining unit members are temporarily, involuntarily assigned to assignments which carry a lower hourly rate, the member shall be compensated at their regular hourly rate for all hours worked. The maximum length of an involuntary, temporary assignment shall be one (1) year.
- C. A vacancy is defined as a bargaining unit position, or newly created position that is unfilled that the administration intends to fill.
 - 1. Whenever any vacancy in a position arises by virtue of a newly created position, discharge for cause, death, leave or resignation during the school year, notice of such vacancy is to be posted in all employee lounges for at least five (5) working days.
 - 2. Qualified bargaining unit members shall have first rights to assignment to such vacant positions and shall have first rights to an interview for the vacant position (Such first rights shall not be construed to guarantee receipt of the assignment).
 - 3. Employees shall be notified of vacancies by email.
 - 4. All posting of vacancies shall include a closing date.
 - 5. The responsible administrator shall consider requests for transfer. Employees who are interested in changes of positions shall notify their principal so a list of applicants may be developed.
 - 6. Nothing in this agreement requires the Board to post any notice of a vacancy when there is a qualified employee on layoff who is to be recalled to said vacancy.
- D. Placement and transfer decisions are determined by qualifications and performance in the previous position. Qualified considerations include but are not limited to: evaluations and administrative/supervisory commentary regarding employee performance.

ARTICLE 6 EVALUATION

The work of all employees shall be evaluated at least once each year. If the work of the employee is found to be unsatisfactory, the immediate supervisor shall make written suggestions for improvement. From the date of receipt of the written suggestions, the employee shall have a

period of sixty (60) calendar days to improve their work performance. After sixty (60) calendar days, a follow-up observation shall be made. If this observation is found to be unsatisfactory, the employee may, within five (5) work days, request additional suggestions for improvement and another follow-up observation. This process shall not preclude disciplinary action.

ARTICLE 7 LEAVE DAYS

A. Employees covered by this Agreement will accrue one (1) sick leave day for each twenty (20) days worked (maximum of one (1) per month). Unused days may accumulate from year to year.

An employee utilizing sick leave days shall be considered continuously employed for purpose of computing benefits under this Agreement.

Insurance benefits shall cease to be paid for eligible employees upon exhaustion of the employee's sick leave accumulation unless greater time period is required by FMLA. During all periods of unpaid absence, the employee will assume responsibility for premium payments.

Accumulated sick leave may be approved for the following reasons:

- 1. Illness of the employee.
- 2. Illness of an immediate family member.
- 3. Doctor appointments of the employees. Employees are expected to attempt scheduling the appointments during non-work time.
- 4. Employees receiving Workers' Compensation pay will have accumulated sick leave deducted on a prorated basis.

If an employee does not finish their year of employment, the used unearned sick leave shall be deducted from their final paycheck.

An employee who is unable to work because of illness or disability and who has exhausted all sick leave available shall be granted a leave of absence for up to one (1) year, and the leave may be renewed upon written request by the employee.

Whenever accidents or injuries occur during the course of employment, the involved bargaining unit member shall immediately report such event to the immediate supervisor or the Superintendent's office. Such events, when appropriate, shall also be reported to the Michigan Workers' Compensation office.

B. Up to three (3) days shall be credited for personal business. Those employees hired after the start of a school year will have their personal days prorated (after a set date) for the remainder of the fiscal year. Requests for personal business days must be submitted

seventy-two (72) hours in advance unless the employee can demonstrate an emergency exists preventing the submission of timely notice. Unused day(s) at the end of the fiscal year will be added to an employee's accumulated sick leave.

C. The Board shall comply with the 1993 Family and Medical Leave Act.

Eligible employees with at least one full year of service and at least one thousand two hundred and fifty (1,250) hours of work in the last 12 months are entitled to unpaid leave of up to twelve (12) weeks, in a rolling one year period commencing on the date the leave begins. Leaves may be continuous or intermittent with the Agreement of the employee and the Superintendent. Benefits shall continue during the leave upon payment of appropriate contributions.

Within fifteen (15) calendar days after the Superintendent or designee makes a request, an employee must support a request with a certificate completed by the employee's or family member's health care provider. Failure to provide the certification may result in a denial of the leave request. If both spouses are employed by the district, they may together take only twelve (12)-weeks. Upon conclusion of the leave, the employee shall be returned to the same position or an equivalent position. If the employee does not return as scheduled, termination from the position may result.

The Superintendent reserves the rights to require proper documentation of all leave under the Act and this policy.

- D. Upon leaving the district, any member of the bargaining unit with twelve (12) or more years of service in the Whitmore Lake School System will receive one hundred percent (100%) of their unused accumulated sick days up to seventy-five (75) days at thirty five dollars (\$35.00) per day for each full day. Less than full day shall be prorated accordingly. This amount shall be paid to the member's designated beneficiary if the member dies while in the employ of the Board.
- E. Any employee who misrepresents the facts pertaining to an absence (paid or unpaid) will be subject to discipline.

Employees may be required to supply a doctor's statement to verify the reason for an absence.

The district reserves the right to send an employee to a district-appointed physician or other qualified professional personnel, at the District's cost, if questions arise concerning an absence.

F. All employees shall receive up to five (5) work days' leave, with pay and without deduction from sick or personal business days for death within the immediate family. For purposes here the immediate family shall be defined as spouse, children, mother, father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, brother, sister, brothers-in-law, sisters-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, grandchildren and grandparents.

Employees shall be allowed one (1) work day leave to be deducted from the employee's sick or personal business days for death outside of the immediate family.

- G. Employees called for jury duty shall be paid by the Board a sum to make up the difference between what they are paid by the court and their regular wage for the time they are required, by law, to serve. No employee shall suffer a loss of pay for serving on jury duty. An employee called for jury duty shall be paid regular wages for those days. Any compensation paid by the court to the employee shall be turned in to the Business Office for deposit in the general fund. In the event the daily compensation from the court exceeds the employee's normal daily wage, the employee shall turn into the Business Office only an amount equal to their normal daily wage. In most cases, expenses incurred in the serving of jury duty will be the responsibility of the court, the employee may present a properly receipted request for reimbursement by the district, which will be honored if approved by the Superintendent. All of the above shall apply only to days normally worked by the employee.
- H. Whenever Schools are closed to severe weather or other emergencies, the employee shall be paid their normal day's pay for time lost due to inclement weather up to the maximum allowed to the District before make up time is required by State law. Compensation for such hours will be based on the actual work schedule of the employee in relation to the time cancelled due to the inclement weather up to the District's maximum allowable amount.
- I. Employees will not be required to report for work on Act-of-God days and shall suffer no loss of pay, nor be required to use accumulated leave days to cover the day in question. A partial listing of such Act-of-God days, by illustration, includes power outages, sewer back-ups or building damage which prohibits the opening of a building.

ARTICLE 8 UNPAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE

- A. An employee on a leave of absence covered in this Article, shall receive no pay or benefits for the workdays actually missed. In computing service to determine the employee's position on the salary and classification schedule, the time spent on leave shall not be counted the same as active service. An employee shall have the right to continue insurance benefits by paying premium cost to the district under Cobra.
- B. Application for leave shall be made in writing to the Superintendent or designee.
- C. An employee employed for one (1) or more years may be granted a leave of absence for up to one (1) year for any reason at the discretion of the Board.
- D. Any employee whose personal illness (including Workers' Compensation) extends beyond the time compensated under this section may be placed on an unpaid leave. The employee must provide a physician's statement reflecting the employee is unable to return to work. Upon notice from the employee's physician, that the employee is capable of returning to work and assuming his/her regular duties, the employee will be returned to his/her position. Reinstatement rights are expressly limited to a period not to exceed (1) year from the last day the employee received a paid sick leave at which time further employment rights shall terminate.

- E. An employee returning from a leave of absence one (1) year or less shall be returned to the position from which he/she left if it still exists. During the leave of absence, the employer may use substitute workers in the position. After the initial year of leave, the position shall be posted as vacant and the employee returning from leave will be placed in an available position within the classification from which leave was taken. In the event no vacancy exists, the employee shall be considered to be laid off.
- F. The Board may at its discretion grant or deny applications for extensions of leave previously granted and due to expire.
- G. Return from leaves: An employee will provide a minimum of thirty (30) working days' notice of intent to return from an absence of sixty (60) calendar days or more. An employee on a leave which will expire at the beginning of a subsequent school year must provide notice of intent to return during the preceding first week of June. Less than a sixty (60) day leave will require a minimum of five (5) working days notice of return to work.

ARTICLE 9 HOLIDAYS

- A. Employees are entitled to the following paid holidays if they fall within their work year: Labor Day, Thanksgiving, Friday after Thanksgiving, Christmas Eve and Christmas Day, New Year's Eve and New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Good Friday (as determined by the Administration and the school calendar) and the Fourth of July.
- B. All employees must work the last working day before the holiday and the first scheduled day after, or have an approved paid or administratively approved day off on those days to draw holiday pay. No employee shall be eligible for holiday pay while laid off or on unpaid leave.
- C. The district may provide members with professional development on calendar days specified as Staff Development.

ARTICLE 10 PROTECTION OF EMPLOYEES

- A. Any case of assault upon an employee shall be promptly reported to the Board of its designated representative. The Board shall provide counsel to advise the employee of their rights and obligations with respect to such assault, and shall render assistance to the employee in conjunction with handling of the incident by law enforcement and judicial authorities; provided the employee is not in violation of any published Board policy or any published administrative regulation.
- B. If any employee is complained against or sued as a result of any action taken by the employee while in the scope of their employment, the Board shall provide counsel and render all necessary assistance to the employee in their defense; provided the employee has not violated any published Board policy or any published administrative regulation.

C. Time lost by an employee in connection with any official action in connection with jobrelated incident mentioned in this article shall not be charged against the employee, provided the time lost is not due to the misconduct or negligence of the employee.

ARTICLE 11 DISCIPLINE OF EMPLOYEES

- A. An employee, upon request, shall be entitled to have present, an Association Representative when the employee is being disciplined or questioned regarding a matter for which there is reason to believe that disciplinary action against the employee being questioned may result from any infraction of rules or delinquency in performance.
- B. Employees shall not be disciplined, reprimanded, reduced in rank or compensation for disciplinary matter without just cause. This entails implementations of progressive discipline. Any such discipline, reprimand, or reduction in rank or compensation asserted by the Board or representative thereof shall be subject to the grievance procedure. No employee shall be disciplined in the presence of students or other employees. Information forming the basis for disciplinary action shall be made available to the employee.
- C. All complaints directed against an employee shall be promptly called to the employee's attention.
- D. Probationary employees are subject to discipline and dismissal at the discretion of the district and not subject to the grievance procedure set forth herein.

ARTICLE 12 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- A. A claim by an employee or the local Association that there has been a violation, misinterpretation or misapplication of any provision of this Agreement may be processed as a grievance as hereinafter provided.
- B. In the event that an employee believes there is a basis for a grievance, they shall, within five (5) work days of the date of the occurrence or event which gave rise to the grievance, first discuss the alleged grievance with their immediate supervisor either personally or accompanied by an Association Representative.
- C. If as a result of the informal discussion with the immediate supervisor a grievance still exists, the formal grievance procedure may be invoked on the appropriate form and signed by the grievant and a representative of the Association. A copy of the grievance form shall be delivered to the immediate supervisor within ten (10) working days of the date of the informal meeting. If the grievance involves more than one supervisor, it may be filed with the Superintendent.
- D. Within five (5) work days of receipt of the grievance, the immediate supervisor shall meet with the Association's representative in an effort to resolve the grievance. The supervisor

shall indicate their disposition of the grievance in writing within five (5) work days of such meeting to the Association.

Within five (5) work days of receipt of the immediate supervisor response, the member or the Association may move the grievance to the Superintendent level of the procedure. Upon receipt of the grievance, the Superintendent shall have five (5) work days to respond to the grievance.

- E. The Association may submit the grievance to binding arbitration before an impartial Arbitrator by filing a demand for arbitration with the American Arbitration Association within twenty (20) work days of the Superintendent's disposition or the deadline for the disposition.
- F. The arbitrator shall be selected according to the rules of the American Arbitration Association which shall likewise govern the arbitration proceedings. The Board and the Association shall not be permitted to assert in such proceedings any grounds or to rely on any evidence not previously disclosed to the other party. The arbitrator shall have no power to alter, ignore, modify, add to, or subtract from the terms of this Agreement. Both parties agree to be bound by the award of the arbitrator and agree that judgment thereon may be entered in any court of competent jurisdiction. The fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be paid by the losing party.
- G. The time limits provided in this article shall be strictly observed but may be extended by written agreement of the parties.
- H. If an individual employee has a grievance which he desires to discuss with a supervisor, he is free to do so without recourse to the grievance procedure. However, no formal grievance shall be processed without sanction of the Association, nor shall any disposition be inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 13 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

- A. This agreement shall constitute the full and complete commitment between both parties and may be altered, changed, added to, deleted from, or modified only through the voluntary, mutual consent of the parties in written and signed amendment to this Agreement.
- B. If any provision of this Agreement or any application of the Agreement to any employee or group of employees shall be found contrary to law, then such provisions or application shall be invalid. All other provisions or applications shall continue in full force and effect.
- C. All members shall have access to an online copy of the current agreement.
- D. This Agreement shall supersede any rules, regulations or practices of the Board which shall be contrary to or inconsistent with its terms.
- E. Whenever bargaining unit members are asked to use their personal vehicles for school use, mileage will be reimbursed at the IRS reimbursement rate.

- F. The Board, at its own expense, may require a yearly medical examination as a condition of employment. The Board, at its own expense, may require a medical examination of an employee whenever, in the opinion of the Board, such examination is warranted.
- G. The district may require the transmission of payroll through direct deposit, unless a person does not have a bank account.
- H. Employees shall be paid semi-monthly.

ARTICLE 14 CONTINUITY OF OPERATIONS

- A. The Association agrees that its officers, representatives and members shall not authorize, instigate, cause, aid, encourage, ratify or condone, nor shall any employee take part in any strike, slowdown, or stoppage of work, boycott or other interruption of activities in the school system during the life of the Agreement. Failure or refusal on the part of any employee to comply with the provisions of this article shall be cause for disciplinary action by the district.
- B. The district agrees it will not lock out employee during the term of this Agreement. This provision shall not be construed to prohibit the district from sending employees home during a strike by another labor group of by the union and/or certain of its members in violation of Section A.

ARTICLE 15 RIGHTS OF THE BOARD

The Board, on its own behalf of the electors of the school district, hereby retains and reserves unto itself, all powers, rights, authority, duties, and responsibilities conferred upon and vested in it by the school code and laws of the state, the Constitution of the State of Michigan and/or the United States. Such rights, duties, etc., shall include, by way of illustration and not by way of limitation, the right to:

- a. Hire and contract with such duly qualified employees as may be required;
- b. The general care and custody of the schools and property of the district, and make and enforce suitable rules and regulations for the general management of the schools and the preservation of the property of the district;
- c. Establish and carry on such grades, schools, and departments as it shall deem necessary or desirable for the maintenance and improvement of the schools;
- d. To make reasonable rules and regulations relative to anything whatever necessary for the proper establishment, maintenance, management and carrying on of the schools;

- e. Determine the services, supplies and equipment necessary to continue its operation and to determine all methods and means of distributing the above and establishing standards of operation, the means, methods and processes of carrying on the work;
- f. The establishment of educational policies, the construction, acquisition and maintenance of school buildings and equipment, the evaluation, discipline, promotion and termination of employees and the establishment and revision of rules and regulations governing and pertaining to work and conduct of its employees.

The Board and administrative staff shall be free to exercise all of its managerial rights and authority. The Association recognizes that the Board has responsibility and authority to manage and direct, on behalf of the public, all the operations and activities of the school district to the full extent authorized by law, provided that such rights and responsibilities shall be limited only by the specific and express terms that are in conformance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Michigan and the United States.

ARTICLE 16 LAYOFF, RECALL AND SENIORITY

- A. 1. Seniority shall be defined as the length of continuous service to the district within the bargaining unit from the employee's last date of hire.
 - Employee who accepts a position outside of the bargaining unit will have their Association seniority frozen.
 - 2. All newly hired employees shall serve a probationary period, culminating with an evaluation by their supervisor to determine advancement.
- B. In the event a reduction of staffing is implemented, employees in positions which are eliminated will only be re-assigned if supervisors deem them as qualified for new positions. A less qualified employee will not be able to "bump" a more qualified employee.
 - Employees displaced through this procedure will be similarly reassigned.
 - This procedure will be implemented in the event of a singular reduction in hours of at least fifteen (15) minutes/day.
- C. Employees scheduled to be laid off will receive ten (10) calendar days' notice of layoff. Such notice will not apply when the layoff is necessitated by millage failures or work stoppages.
- D. Laid off employees will be recalled in the inverse order of layoff to vacancies within the classification from which they were laid off, or to classifications in which they have frozen seniority provided they are qualified. Recall rights are restricted to non-probationary employees and only for a period of twenty-four (24) months from the effective date of layoff.

Employees will receive a minimum of five (5) calendar days' notice of recall. Such notice will be forwarded to the employee's last known address by certified mail. Failure to return shall be considered a voluntary resignation. Exceptions may be made by mutual agreement between the Association and the district.

ARTICLE 17 INSURANCE PROTECTION

The District declares itself to be the policy holder of all health-related insurance benefits.

- A. <u>HEALTH INSURANCE</u>: The Board shall make payment of premiums for full family health insurance for twelve (12) months for all employees who work a forty (40) hour work week. New employees (hired after July 1, 2009) who work less than 40 hours a week will have their benefits pro-rated. New employees to those positions or position equivalent in hours will have health benefits or "in lieu" pro-rated equally.
 - 1. Policy Type and Coverage: Qualified employees are eligible to participate in the same health coverage offered to teachers and administrators at the same rates.
 - 2. Application: Each employee desiring such coverage shall prepare and sign an application on forms provided by the district (and as necessary, the insurance carrier).
 - 3. The board shall provide the same health coverage offered to teachers and administrators at the same rates.
 - 4. Insurance or Health Care Contribution:
 - a. Under this agreement the employer's maximum liability for medical insurance shall be no more than an amount designated by the State as the "hardcap" as defined in MCL 15.563, as last amended by 2018 Public Act 477.
 - b. Employee contributions, in school years 2023-24 = 2.5%; 2024-25 = 2.5%; 2025-26 = 2.5% shall be deducted on a twenty (20) or twenty-four (24) pay basis.
 - 5. Employees not electing health insurance shall be eligible to receive an additional \$2,500.00 in cash provided, however, should the interpretation of PA 152 not permit this as a stand-alone benefit and declare that it must be calculated as a part of the health care plan this paragraph shall be considered voided. If seventeen (17) or more eligible employees elect not to enroll in health insurance for the entire fiscal year, the \$2,500.00 shall be increased to \$3,000.00. The Board shall make bi-annual (January and June) contributions on behalf of such members which will be prorated in the event of a partial year of service. Part-time employees shall not be entitled to cashin-lieu of health when they are not entitled to health benefits.
- B. <u>DENTAL COVERAGE</u>: The Board shall provide full family dental coverage for all bargaining unit members employed for forty (40) hours or more. New employees (hired after July 1, 2009) who workless then 40 hours a week will have their benefits prorated.

- C. <u>LIFE INSURANCE</u>: The Board shall make payment of premiums for group term life insurance protection in the amount of \$20,000 per employee or the group term life insurance protection amount offered with the District health plan that in case of death would be paid to the employee's designated beneficiary.
- D. <u>VISION</u>: The Board shall provide full family vision coverage for all bargaining unit members employed for forty (40) hours or more. New employees (hired after July 1, 2009) who workless then 40 hours a week will have their benefits prorated.
- E. <u>LONG TERM DISABILITY:</u> The Board shall provide, at no cost to the employee, Long Term Disability Insurance. The LTD shall provide 66 2/3% of the employee's bi-weekly gross compensation. The LTD shall have a waiting period of ninety (90) days.
- F. CO-PAYS: All co-pays will be payroll deducted over 20 pays per year.

ARTICLE 18 STAFF DEVELOPMENT

All bargaining unit members shall have opportunity to access the district's staff development program for the upgrading of skills. All employees may make application to such training opportunity, with the final decision resting on the Board or its designee.

ARTICLE 19 JOB DESCRIPTIONS

- A. A written job description shall be given to each bargaining unit member in order to facilitate the performance of their duties and responsibilities.
- B. Job Descriptions shall be reviewed every other year in a conference with the bargaining unit member and their immediate supervisor.

ARTICLE 20 WAGE SCHEDULE & RELATED ISSUES

PAY SCALE:

a. The following schedule will constitute the wage rates for classification of employees covered by this agreement:

Probationary	\$15.00
Level 1	\$16.00 – 17.99
Level 2	\$18.00 – 19.99
Level 3	\$20.00 – 21.99

b. Employees who are at the top of the wage scale in Level 3 will receive an annual increase of 2.5% for the duration of this agreement.

In a year in which the previous school year's final approved budget falls below 6% Fund Balance, all scheduled compensation increases will be frozen. If this provision occurs in two consecutive years, a wage opener will be established.

<u>ADVANCEMENT</u>: Members of the Office Personnel Association will be compensated based on their qualifications. Level advancement criteria are outlined in Appendix A.

Additional pay will result from duties which are offered at the discretion of the Superintendent and, if accepted, will result in an extra \$.25 to \$.75 per hour.

Current 2020-2021 Office Personnel will be grandfathered into the Level System. At the discretion of the Superintendent and the Building Level Supervisor, Office Personnel will be transferred to the Level for which they are most qualified. Employee pay cannot be reduced from its current amount and the minimum should be at least the Level upon which they are placed.

<u>LONGEVITY</u>: An employee must have completed the years of full-time continuous employment within the bargaining unit listed below prior to December 1 in order to be eligible for longevity payments. Longevity payment shall be made off schedule and in the first pay in December.

Years Service	Amount
11 - 14 Years	\$450
15 - 19 Years	\$650
20 Years and over	\$850

ARTICLE 21 DURATION OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall be effective as of July 1, 2023, and shall continue in effect until the 30th day of June, 2026.

WHITMORE LAKE EDUCATIONAL SUPPORT PERSONNEL ASSOCIATION	WHITMORE LAKE BOARD OF EDUCATION
BY President	BY Its President BY Its Superintendent
DATE 10/23/23	DATE /A/AG/2023

APPENDIX A

Level Advancement Criteria

- Probationary
 - When Level 1 competencies begin to develop, a step up will be approved by the supervisor.
- Level 1:
 - o Demonstrates ability to:
 - Be reliable with attendance.
 - Handle incoming calls, emails, records and distribute as appropriate.
 - Maintain a filing system and knowledge of required reports utilizing appropriate management tools, such as Powerschool.
 - Create and update student and staff information in Powerschool.
 - Maintain confidentiality and professionalism at all times.
 - Greet the public, manage volunteers while maintaining strict measures of security.
 - Prepare state and district level reports with consistent accuracy.
 - Manage student registration and new student enrollments.
 - Request or transfer student records.
 - Be consistently compassionate when working with students.
 - Utilize confidentiality and professionalism at all times.
 - To problem solve and work with school personnel to find solutions.
 - When Level 2 competencies begin to develop, a step up will be approved by the supervisor.
 - Work independently.
- Level 2
 - o In addition to all of Level 1 criteria, assistant has demonstrated the ability to:
 - Show consistency in performance when using all applicable fields in Powerschool
 - Apply knowledge and performance when using Google (docs, sheets, etc.)
 - Apply a demeanor with the public, staff, and student body that is appropriate and of high quality.
 - When Level 3 competencies begin to develop, a step up will be approved by the supervisor.

• Level 3

- In addition to all of Level 2 criteria, assistant has demonstrated the ability to:
 - To work independently and teach others how to use Powerschool and Google suite to create documents, and assist administrators in presentations, data sharing, etc.
 - Apply knowledge of applicable student privacy laws
 - Apply knowledge of applicable school policies relative to students and records
 - Apply a demeanor with the public, staff, and student body that is appropriate and of the highest integrity.